THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-02-01005
Appellate Case No. 2018-000527

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of:

Richard D. Ridley..... Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUL 11 2019
SC Court of Appeals

AIKEN & HIGHTOWER, PA

Annie Bea Hightower
2231 Devine Street, Suite 201
Columbia, SC 29205
Telephone: 803-799-5205
Fax: 803-799-5206
Email: bea@aikenandhightower.com
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY THAT APPELLANT SUFFERED FROM OTHER SPECIFIED PARAPHILIC DISORDER, NON- CONSENT OR BIASTOPHILIA WHEN THAT DIAGNOSIS IS SCIENTIFICALLY UNRELIABLE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

This is a case arising under the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA), S.C. Code §§ 44-48-10 et seq. The Appellant, Richard Ridley (Ridley) is civilly committed under the SVPA. Ridley filed a Petition for Release, and ultimately the issue of whether he was entitled to be release under the SVPA was tried on February 26 and 27 of 2018. Prior to the trial, Ridley filed a Motion in Limine seeking a ruling precluding the State from introducing evidence that he suffered from other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia on the grounds that that diagnosis was scientifically unreliable. (Motion in Limine, R. pp. 373-466). The trial court denied the Motion in Limine, and the state was permitted to present evidence of other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia. (R. pp. 35-56 and pp. 84-225). Ridley contends that this was error.

At the trial, the State was required to prove, inter alia, that Ridley suffered from a mental abnormality or personality disorder beyond a reasonable doubt. The State's expert, Gordon Brown, PhD (Brown), testified that Ridley suffered from the mental abnormality of other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia and the personality disorder of anti-social personality disorder with narcissistic traits. (R. p. 119) The Verdict Form used at the trial merely asked the jury to return a general verdict on whether the State had met its burden. (R. P. 491) In other words, the Verdict Form (R. P. 4910 did not ask the jury to return special verdict findings on mental abnormality as opposed to personality disorder. The trial court's error in admitting the evidence of other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent prejudiced Ridley because it permitted

the jury to sustain the State's case on the strength of evidence of the scientifically unreliable diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion.”

State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law” Douglas, 369 S.C. at 429-430, 632 S.E.2d at 848.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY THAT APPELLANT SUFFERED FROM OTHER SPECIFIED PARAPHILIC DISORDER, NON-CONSENT OR BIASTOPHILIA WHEN THAT DIAGNOSIS IS SCIENTIFICALLY UNRELIABLE.

A. The reliability standard for admissibility of scientific evidence.

“When admitting scientific evidence under Rule 702 SCRE, the trial judge must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 516 (1999). In assessing the reliability of scientific evidence, the trial court must consider “the degree to which the trier of fact must accept, on faith, scientific hypotheses not capable of proof or disproof in court and not even generally accepted outside the courtroom.” State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E. 2d 120, 124 (1979). In applying the Jones standard, the trial court must look at several factors including:

- (1) the publications and peer review of the technique;
- (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case;
- (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability;
- (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.

Council, 335 S.C. at 19, 515 S.E.2d at 518; citing, State v. Ford, 301 S.C. 485, 392 S.E.2d 781 (1990).

B. The publications and peer-reviewed studies concerning the relevant diagnosis conclude that the diagnosis is scientifically unreliable.

1. DSM-5

DSM-5 is a remarkable feat of assembling and compiling a representation of those psychological disorders that are generally accepted by the psychiatric community. “After World War II, DSM evolved through four major editions into a diagnostic classification system for psychiatrists, other physicians, and other mental health professionals that describe the essential features of the full range of mental disorders.” (DSM-5 at page 6, R. pp. 382-383) Also see the section in the Introduction of the DSM-5 at page 6 on the DSM-5 Revision Process (R. pp. 382-383).

In 1999, the APA launched an evaluation of the strengths and weaknesses of DSM based on emerging research that did not support the boundaries established for some mental disorders. This effort was coordinated with the World Health Organization (WHO) Division of Mental Health the World Psychiatric Association (WPA) and the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) in the form of several conferences, the proceedings of which were published in a 2002 monograph entitled A Research Agenda for the DSM-5. Thereafter, the task force of 28 members was approved in 2007, and appointments of more 130 workgroup members were approved in 2008. More than 400 additional workgroup advisors with no voting authority were also approved to participate in the process. An intensive 6-year process involved conducting literature reviews and secondary analyses, publishing research reports in scientific journals, developing draft diagnostic criteria, posting preliminary drafts on the DSM-5 website for public comment, presenting preliminary findings at professional meetings, performing field trials, and revising criteria and text. (DSM-5 at 6-7, App. pp. 1 and 2)

Through this rigorous process, the relevant scientific community of psychiatrists, psychologists, other physicians, and other mental health professionals rejected other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia as a valid mental health diagnosis. (R. p. 443).

Ridley's counsel cross-examined Brown on the specific issue of whether other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia was rejected by the committees and compilers that produced DSM-5. Brown engaged in significant circumlocution, but he was finally forced to admit that the diagnosis had been rejected by the expert committees and compilers that produced DSM-5. (R. pp. 175-183).

2. The peer-reviewed literature.

A review of the peer-reviewed literature shows that the diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia is unreliable as having no reliable scientific basis. Summaries of the literature appear below:

“DSM-5 and Paraphilic Disorder” (First)

This article outlines issues which arose in adopting DSM-5's paraphilia section. The author notes that unlike other DSM sections, paraphilias are primarily diagnosed in forensic settings. There were three particularly contested DSM-5 paraphilia proposals: to add PCD¹ and a new named paraphilia called “Hypersexual Disorder” and to broaden the pedophilia diagnosis to include pubescent as well as prepubescent children. None of these proposals were adopted. The DSM-4 and 4-TR, according to the author had a “forensically significant editing error ... this error, a misplaced or, allow the diagnosis of a paraphilia to be based entirely on the presence of criminal sexual behavior, sidestepping the requirement that the behavior be a manifestation of a deviant sexual arousal pattern.” (R. p. 388) The DSM-5 now generally has the deviant sexual arousal pattern as its centerpiece and places behaviors and fantasies in subsidiary roles.

Dr. First asserts the OSPD category is “intended to be used for presentations that do not meet the criteria for any specific DSM-5 disorder; for presentations of uncertain etiology with

¹ Other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent is sometimes referred to as PCD or paraphilic coercive disorder.

respect to whether the condition is substance induced, due to another medical condition, or primary; and for presentations where there is insufficient information to make a more specific diagnosis.” (R. p. 391) “By virtue of their residual and often idiosyncratic nature cases diagnosed as [OSPD] ... [including PCD] are, by definition, outside what is generally accepted by the field and thus should be used in forensic contexts only with great caution.” (R. p. 392).

“Commentary: Inventing Diagnosis for Civil Commitment of Rapists” (Zander)

[This article was written prior to the adoption of the DSM-5 and thus in part analyzes the NOS category under the DSM-4 and 4-TR]. Non-consent is not a diagnosis under the “International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems” or “ICD 10.” (R. p. 397) Attempts to provide a PCD diagnosis and DSM-3- TR from 1983 to 1986 resulted in “vigorous opposition” from multiple organizations. (R. p. 398) It was understood by the 1980’s that rape “is a violent assault motivated by the rapist’s desire for power and domination rather than by sexual arousal.” (R. p. 398) The APA board rejected the proposal in 1986 by vote of 10 to 4. (R. p. 398) Two new proposals were included at that time in the DSM Appendix as conditions warranting further study, but the non-consent diagnosis was not. (R. p. 399)

The DSM-4-TR assigned “V-codes’ applicable to sexual abuse involving “sexual coercion rape.” V-codes do not describe a mental disorder but rather problems which are “a focus of clinical attention.” (R. p. 399) (citations omitted) This is further evidence the DSM did not intend PCD to be diagnosed in the “NOS” category. While the vague standards of the NOS category may be appropriate in clinical settings that category should not be used in forensic settings because NOS diagnoses are “ad hoc inventions of individual diagnosticians. (R. p. 401) The non-consent diagnosis is not generally accepted in the field because “it is based on a construct that was deliberately rejected as unsupported by research in the behavioral sciences when it was considered

for inclusion in the manual of diagnosis that is based on professional consensus” (R. p.. 402) The author asserts that psychologists who use the non-consent diagnosis may be in violation of APA ethical standards because the diagnosis is not supported by established scientific and professional knowledge. (R. pp. 401-402) Some men may rape because of a paraphilia but more research needs to be done to allow the non-consent diagnosis to be used in forensic settings.

“Paraphilia NOS, Nonconsent, Not Ready for the Courtroom (Frances and First)

This article states that the “DSM-5 rejection of paraphilia coercive disorder as an official category was necessary because the rationale and the supporting evidence were so thin.” (R. p. 412) The article also states that “there is no research to guide how criteria set for paraphilia coercive disorder should be written and whether it could ever be reliably diagnosed.” (R. p. 412). “There was little interest (and very limited research) in the psychiatric status of rape until it became a convenient way to subject rapists to involuntary psychiatric commitment after their prison sentences had been served.” (R. p. 413). “Paraphilia NOS, non-consent, is not a legitimate mental disorder diagnosis and seems more an excuse for keeping dangerous sex offenders locked up.” (R. p. 413).

C. The cases decided on the admissibility of the diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia persuasively conclude that the diagnosis is scientifically unreliable.

In 2016, two Supreme Court Justices in New York in separate lengthy opinions excluded evidence of diagnoses of other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent or biastophilia in SVP cases. State v. Jason C., 26 N.Y.S.3d 423 (2016) (App. pp. 34-48) and State v. Kareem M., 36 N.Y.S.3d 410 (2016) (App. pp. 49-85) While both cases discussed the admissibility of the evidence under the Frye v. U.S., 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923) criteria of general acceptance in the

scientific community, which is different from South Carolina's reliability standard, the analysis in these cases supports a finding of unreliability under South Carolina's reliability standard.

In Jason C., The New York Supreme Court, Kings County based its conclusion that the other specified paraphilic disorder, non-consent was inadmissible on several observations that go directly to the reliability of the science underlying this diagnosis. First, the court observed that there is no clear definition or criteria for this disorder. (R. p. 412). Second, the court observed that the diagnosis cannot be reliably distinguished from other motivations for rape such as anti-sociality or sexual sadism. (R.. p. 423) Third, the psychological studies of the diagnosis do not reflect a wide, significant, well-rounded body of research that supports the validity of the diagnosis. (R. p. 425) Fourth, the diagnosis has been repeatedly rejected for inclusion in the DSM. (R. pp. 428-429)