ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000527

RECEIVED

JUL 11 2019

SC Court of Appeals

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of
Richard D. Ridley,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000527

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting expert testimony regarding the diagnosis of Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder (Bisexual/Non-Consent), because the evidence established the diagnosis is generally accepted in the mental health community, and Appellant was able to cross-examine the State's expert, and present his own expert, regarding some mental health clinicians' rejection of the diagnosis.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in admitting Dr. Brown's testimony regarding Appellant's Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder (Bisexual/Non-Consent) diagnosis, asserting the diagnosis is scientifically unreliable because some mental health clinicians reject it, and two lower courts in New York found it was not admissible. Appellant's contention overlooks other evidence and case law indicating that while there is some disagreement among clinicians regarding the validity of the diagnosis, it is generally used and accepted in the mental health community.

Appellant's argument blatantly ignores the fact the DSM-V not only expressly includes Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder as a valid diagnosis, it explains the circumstances under which a clinician could use the diagnosis. Recognizing the complexity of mental health disorders cannot be reduced to simple summaries of symptoms covering every situation practitioners face, the DSM-V authors provided two categories designed to "enhance diagnostic specificity."

To enhance diagnostic specificity, DSM-5 replaces the previous NOS [not otherwise specified] designation with two options for clinical use: *other specified disorder* and *unspecified disorder*. The other specified disorder category is provided to allow the clinician to communicate the specific reason that the presentation does not meet the criteria for any specific category within a diagnostic class. This is done by recording the name of the category, followed by the specific reason. For example, for an individual with clinically significant depressive symptoms lasting 4 weeks but whose symptomatology falls short of the diagnostic threshold for a major depressive episode, the clinician would record "other specified depressive disorder, depressive episode with insufficient symptoms."

* * * *

The symptoms contained in the respective diagnostic criteria sets do not constitute comprehensive definitions of underlying disorders, which encompass cognitive, emotional, behavioral and physiological processes that are far more complex than

as can be described in these brief summaries. Rather, they are intended to summarize characteristic syndromes of signs and symptoms that point to an underlying disorder with a characteristic developmental history, biological and environmental risk factors, neuropsychological and physiological correlates, and typical clinical course.

* * * *

Although decades of scientific effort have gone into developing the diagnostic criteria sets for the disorders included in Section II, it is well recognized that this set of categorical diagnoses does not fully describe the full range of mental disorders that individuals experience and present to clinicians on a daily basis throughout the world. As noted previously in the introduction, the range of genetic/environmental interactions over the course of human development affecting cognitive, emotional and behavioral function is virtually limitless. As a result, it is impossible to capture the full range of psychopathy in the categorical diagnostic categories that we are now using. Hence, it is also necessary to include "other specified/unspecified" disorder options for presentations that do not fit exactly into the diagnostic boundaries of disorders in each chapter.

* * * *

Following the assessment of diagnostic criteria, clinicians should consider the application of disorder subtypes and/or specifiers as appropriate. Severity and course specifiers should be applied to denote the individual's current presentation, but only when the full criteria are met. When full criteria are not met, clinicians should consider whether the symptom presentation meets criteria for an "other specified" or "unspecified" designation.

DSM-V, pp. 15-16, 19, 21 (emphasis in original). Therefore, Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder is a legitimate diagnosis contained in what Appellant referenced at trial as "the bible" used for diagnosing mental health issues, and it is recognized by the vast majority of mental health practitioners.

In support of his argument regarding the validity of the diagnosis at issue, Petitioner cites several articles arguing Biastophilia/Non-Consent is not a valid paraphilic disorder specifier, and two lower court cases from New York holding the diagnosis is not admissible in civil commitment cases. Other New York cases and the majority of jurisdictions that have considered this issue, however, have found the diagnosis is sufficient for commitment as a sexually violent predator.

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently addressed a similar argument regarding a diagnosis of Other Specified Personality Disorder in the DSM-V section on personality disorders. See In re Snow, 425 S.C. 544, 823 S.E.2d 467 (2019). Finding the diagnosis was legally sufficient to satisfy the SVPA requirement of a personality disorder, the court found the SVPA only requires the State to prove the person suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder, and does not define or limit the State by restricting which mental abnormalities or personality disorders to use in satisfying the requirement. *Id.* at 469. “The obvious intent in not defining the term was to leave to medical professionals the task of determining what is – and what is not – a personality disorder.” *Id.*

Similarly, given the DSM-V inclusion of Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder as a valid paraphilia diagnosis, and the discussion regarding how and when it can be used, it cannot be seriously disputed the diagnosis is a valid one recognized by the mental health community. Appellant argues that the on-going debate regarding the Biastophilia/Non-Consent specifier, and the fact it was not included in the DSM-V, renders it inadmissible as a valid diagnosis. The mere fact there is on-going debate regarding the diagnosis, however, goes to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility. See State v. Graham, 275 Kan. 176, 61 P.3d 662, 667 (2003) (some disagreement in the scientific and medical community as to the reliability of a particular test method is a matter affecting the weight of such evidence and not its admissibility; such evidence is admissible if a qualified expert witness testifies the particular test method is reliable and accurate, and it is generally accepted as such by other experts in the field).

Appellant cites two New York lower court cases holding evidence regarding Biastophilia/Non-Consent is not admissible. See State v. Jason C., 26 N.Y.S.3d 423 (2016); State

v. Kareem M., 36 N.Y.S.3d 410 (2016). Other New York courts, however, have found the diagnosis is generally recognized and used in state and federal courts.

In State v. Daryl W., 19 N.Y.S.3d 396 (2015), the court noted a number of articles, “most of which have been written by Allen Frances, M.D., and Michael B. First, M.D.,” have criticized the diagnosis of Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder (Non-consent).” The court specifically addressed the analysis set forth by those authors in Paraphilia NOS, Nonconsent: Not Ready for the Courtroom, 39 Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law 55 (2011), an article cited and relied on by Appellant in this case.

In finding the article unpersuasive, the court noted the authors acknowledged “the widespread use of paraphilia NOS, non-consent’ under the DSM-IV-TR as a qualifying diagnosis in mental health proceedings involving the civil confinement of sexually violent predators, and that a diagnosis of ‘paraphilia NOS, non-consent, has been widely used’ by examiners to determine whether those sexually violent predators suffer from a mental abnormality.”³ *Id.* at 402-403 (citing the article at page 556). The court further noted the basic premise of the authors’ analysis was that “the wide-spread use [of the diagnosis] is based upon a misunderstanding of the wording and intent of the DSM-IV,” specifically that the paraphilia NOS non-consent diagnosis had been misused “due to ‘a misreading of the poorly worded ... opening sentence of the DSM-IV paraphilia section,’” causing examiners to make “the mistaken assumption that the text implies that the DSM-IV-TR recognizes the existence of an arousal pattern focused on the nonconsenting nature of the sexual behaviors.” *Id.* In the face of the authors’ contention, however, the court found that if such a profound misunderstanding existed, the DSM-V “would have undoubtedly included

³The DSM-IV included the category of Paraphilia, Not Otherwise Specified (NOS), which the DSM-V divided into Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder and Other Unspecified Paraphilic Disorder.

language clarifying this allegedly widespread misinterpretation of the DSM in proceedings involving the civil confinement of sexually violent predators,” but no such language was added to the DSM-V. *Id.*

Finally, the court found that evidence of Paraphilia NOS (arousal to non-consent) had “been routinely admitted in state and federal courts, including in civil confinement cases. Significantly, the court noted there were no federal or state appellate decisions finding the Paraphilia NOS diagnosis was unreliable. *Id.* at 403-404.

The Daryl W. decision predated Jason C. and Kareem M., but a subsequent New York court expressly declined to follow those cases. In re Patrick L., 31 N.Y.S.2d 845 (2016). The Patrick L. court recognized the “imperfect fit between the questions of ultimate concern to the law and the information contained in the DSM’s clinical analysis,” but found that holding the non-consent qualifier was unreliable simply because it was not accepted for publication in the DSM-V would “eviscerate both the purpose and the text of [the sexual predator statute].”⁴ *Id.* at 854-855. The court also cited State v Harris, 12 N.Y.S.3d 950 (2015), which held that a diagnosis of Unspecified Paraphilic Disorder, with less exacting criteria, was generally accepted and admissible in civil commitment cases. *Id.* In affirming Patrick L.’s civil commitment, the court considered the expert’s testimony regarding the factors she relied on in making the diagnosis,

⁴Significantly, the court noted both the Jason C. and Kareem M. decisions referenced the “politics’ of including non-consent as a paraphilia,” particularly “a concern that doing so would diminish the criminality of rape because offenders could use the qualification as a mental health defense.” *Id.* at 852. The fallacy of that concern is readily apparent. Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder (Bastophilia/Non-Consent) is no more the basis for a mental health defense in a criminal case than a diagnosis of Pedophilia serves as a basis for a criminal defense to sexual assault of a child.

which amply supported a finding that Patrick L. was still likely to reoffend sexually if released from confinement. *Id.*⁵

In addition to the New York cases discussed above, the federal courts and other state courts have confirmed the admissibility of a Paraphilia NOS, or Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder (Biatophilia/Non-Consent) diagnosis in civil commitment cases. In McGee v. Bartow, 593 F.3d 556 (7th Cir. 2010), the court discussed the validity of Paraphilia NOS and Personality Disorder NOS in a Wisconsin sexual predator proceeding, particularly in the context of the U.S. Supreme Court's analysis of due process requirements in sexually violent predator cases as set forth in Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997), and Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407 (2002). In holding both diagnoses were admissible, the court noted the DSM anticipated criticism of those categories by specifically noting the diversity of clinical presentations renders covering every possible situation impossible, and explaining the circumstances under which a NOS diagnosis would be appropriate. The court acknowledged the on-going debate in the mental health community regarding a non-consent diagnosis, but found the diagnosis was not so "unsupported by science that it should be excluded absolutely from consideration by the **trier of fact**," and the existence of the debate is a proper consideration for "the **factfinder** in weighing the evidence" regarding a person's mental status. *Id.* at 577-581 (emphasis added).

By way of footnote, the court cited cases from other jurisdictions concluding that "a paraphilic rape disorder can be the predicate diagnosis, or one piece of predicate diagnosis." *Id.* at 581, n. 16. The footnote cites cases from the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals, Washington, Kansas,

⁵To date, the New York Court of Appeals has not ruled on the issue, and counsel can find no indication that court has accepted any of the trial court cases for review.

New Jersey, North Dakota, Illinois, Pennsylvania, Missouri, Florida and California. None of the cited cases have been modified or overruled.

In this case, Dr. Brown based his diagnoses and opinions on three years of reviewing Appellant's mental status since he was committed for treatment. As part of those reviews, Dr. Brown considered Appellant's legal history, disciplinary history while incarcerated, treatment records, and several interviews with Appellant. He testified Appellant's score on the Static-99R and Static-2002R put him in the high risk category (99th percentile) to reoffend as compared to other sex offenders, and Appellant had multiple dynamic risk factors for reoffending, including sexual preoccupation, preference for pubescent males, offensive support attitudes, lack of emotionally intimate relationships with adults, lifestyle impulsiveness, poor problem solving, and resistance to rules and supervision. He related those dynamic risk factors to Appellant's conduct while in the treatment program, including recent grooming type behavior toward younger residents that was very similar to Appellant's offense history. (TT, pp. 84-146; R., pp. 84-146).

The jury also heard Dr. Watson's testimony regarding the efficacy of Dr. Brown's Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder (Blastophilia/Non-Consent) diagnosis, and his opinion it was not a valid diagnosis.⁶ He disputed the presence of the dynamic risk factors identified by Dr. Brown, but conceded there were discrepancies between Appellant's statements to him and the official records. Dr. Watson opined Appellant is safe to be at large, but recommended continued out-patient treatment. (TT, pp. 232-291; R., pp. 232-291).

As recognized in Snow, the SVPA only requires evidence of a mental abnormality or personality disorder, and does not define those terms or limit the State by restricting the type of

⁶Dr. Watson did not dispute the Antisocial Personality Disorder with Narcissistic Traits diagnosis.

mental abnormalities or personality disorders that may be used to satisfy the requirement, clearly indicating the legislative intent to leave to medical professionals the task of determining what is or is not a mental abnormality or personality disorder. 823 S.E.2d at 469. Citing Crane, the court noted that the presence of what the psychiatric profession itself classified as a serious mental disorder helps make the necessary distinction between sexually violent predators and other dangerous people. *Id.* As discussed above, the mental health profession has classified Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder as a serious mental disorder, and the Biastophilia/Non-Consent specifier has been recognized and widely used in civil commitment cases. Therefore, evidence of the disorder and specifier is admissible for SVPA purposes.

The circuit court properly determined the efficacy of Dr. Brown's Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder (Biastophilia/Non-Consent) diagnosis was subject to cross-examination, and ultimately presented a question for the jury as the factfinder. The court instructed the jury it could consider the expert opinions just like any other evidence, and give their testimony the weight it felt was deserved, including completely disregarding the expert's testimony. (TT, pp. 37-55, 226-228, 363-364; R., pp. 37-55, 226-228, 363-364).

The record amply supports the circuit court's ruling and the jury's verdict. Accordingly, Appellant's continued commitment in the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION